2009

# Meadow Valley Contractors, Inc., v. State of Utah Department of Transportation : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

### **Jurisdiction**

This court has jurisdiction under Utah Code section 78A-3-102.

### **Statement of Issues**

Before stating the issues, the Utah Department of Transportation (UDOT) provides some context. This appeal involves a breach of contract claim brought by Meadow Valley Contractors, Inc. (MVC) against UDOT under a contract in which MVC agreed to serve as general contractor for a highway construction project on I-215 (“general contract”). (R. 2.) The dispute centers on whether MVC is entitled to additional compensation on the ground that UDOT breached the general contract by altering the project to preclude the use of a less expensive “ribbon paving” method.

MVC entered into two subcontracts with Southwest Asphalt Paving for the paving portion of the project (collectively “subcontract”). (R. 1496-97.) Months before paving began, Southwest requested to ribbon pave the entire project because it would be less expensive, and UDOT informed both MVC and Southwest that certain specifications in the general contract limited the use of ribbon paving. (R. 1500-02.) If MVC believed UDOT had altered the project by limiting ribbon paving, then under the general contract MVC had to provide UDOT written notice within 5 days. (Trial Ex. 103 at 57, attached at Add. B.) And if Southwest believed UDOT had altered the project, then under the subcontract Southwest had to provide MVC written notice in time to permit MVC to comply with its notice deadlines, but in no event longer than 48 hours after discovery. (Trial Ex. 9 at §5.2, attached at Add. C.)

Neither MVC nor Southwest provided timely notice under their respective contracts. (R. 1511.) And under both contracts, the failure to provide timely notice

“constitutes a waiver of any and all claims that may arise as a result of the alleged change.” (Add. B, Trial Ex. 103 at 57; Add. C, Trial Ex. 9 at §5.3.)

After the project was completed, Southwest did not file a claim against MVC for additional compensation, but instead asked MVC to assign to Southwest any claims MVC had against UDOT, which MVC did. (R. 1497.) Southwest then filed this lawsuit on behalf of MVC, alleging that UDOT breached the general contract when it altered the project by limiting ribbon paving. (R. 2-5.) After a bench trial, the trial court ruled that (i) UDOT had breached the general contract by restricting ribbon paving; (ii) Southwest’s “actual verbal notice” to UDOT that Southwest desired to ribbon pave satisfied MVC’s duty to provide written notice that UDOT had altered the project such that MVC was entitled to additional compensation; and (iii) MVC was not required to comply with the notice provisions because UDOT restricted Southwest from ribbon paving even though project specifications permitted ribbon paving. (R. 1518-24.) The trial court then awarded damages to MVC that were incurred by Southwest only. (R. 1525.)

These rulings raise four issues on appeal.

**Issue 1:** Whether the trial court plainly erred in awarding damages to MVC that were incurred by Southwest, where Southwest is the assignee of MVC’s claims.

**Standard of Review:** The court reviews for correctness whether an assignor can recover damages incurred by an assignee. SME Indus., Inc. v. Thompson, Ventulett, Stainback & Assocs., 2001 UT 54, 28 P.3d 669.

**Preservation:** This precise issue is not preserved. The court will reverse if “(i) an error exists; (ii) the error should have been obvious to the trial court; and (iii) the error is

harmful, i.e., absent the error, there is a reasonable likelihood of a more favorable outcome.” State v. Ross, 2007 UT 89, ¶17, 174 P.3d 628.

**Issue 2:** Whether UDOT breached a general contract by altering a highway construction project where the contract expressly permits UDOT to alter the project.

**Standard of Review:** The court reviews a trial court’s interpretation of a contract for correctness. Aquagen Int’l, Inc. v. Calrae Trust, 972 P.2d 411, 413 (Utah 1998).

**Preservation:** This issue was preserved at R. 1274-77.

**Issue 3:** Whether Southwest’s verbal notice that it wished to ribbon pave satisfied MVC’s obligation to provide UDOT written notice that MVC believed UDOT had altered the project by prohibiting ribbon paving.

**Standard of Review:** The court reviews a trial court’s interpretation of a contract for correctness. Aquagen Int’l, Inc. v. Calrae Trust, 972 P.2d 411, 413 (Utah 1998).

**Preservation:** This issue was preserved at R. 1274-76.

**Issue 4:** Whether UDOT waived, modified, or is estopped from enforcing the notice provisions in the general contract because UDOT directed Southwest to block pave instead of ribbon pave.

**Standard of Review:** Whether a district court “employed the proper standard of waiver presents a legal question which is reviewed for correctness, but the actions or events allegedly supporting waiver are factual in nature and should be reviewed as factual determinations, to which we give a district court deference.” Cedar Surgery Ctr., L.L.C. v. Bonelli, 2004 UT 58, ¶6, 96 P.3d 911. A similar standard of review applies to modification and estoppel. R.T. Nielson Co. v. Cook, 2002 UT 11, 40 P.3d 1119.

**Preservation:** This issue was preserved at R. 1425:971, 983, 991-1011.

## **Determinative Provisions**

None

## **Statement of the Case**

### **I. Nature of the Case**

In this lawsuit, MVC alleges that UDOT breached its contract with MVC (“general contract”) when UDOT forbade MVC’s subcontractor, Southwest, from using a less expensive “ribbon paving” method on portions of a construction project on I-215.<sup>1</sup> (R. 1-5.) While the general contract allowed the UDOT engineer to alter the project, it also entitled MVC to additional compensation as long as MVC provided UDOT timely notice that UDOT had altered the project. After a bench trial, the court ruled that UDOT breached the general contract by altering the project and MVC was excused from complying with the notice provisions because UDOT had altered the project by restricting Southwest from ribbon paving.<sup>2</sup> (R. 1519-25.) The trial court then awarded to MVC damages incurred by Southwest, the assignee of MVC’s claim. (R. 1525.)

This appeal concerns whether (i) MVC may recover damages incurred by Southwest; (ii) UDOT breached the general contract by altering the project where the contract allows UDOT to alter the project; (iii) MVC waived its right to additional compensation by failing to comply with the notice provisions in the general contract; and (iv) UDOT waived, modified, or is estopped from enforcing the notice provisions.

---

<sup>1</sup> MVC voluntarily dismissed its original unjust enrichment claim. (R. 300-01.)

<sup>2</sup> This is not a mischaracterization of the trial court’s ruling. The trial court ruled that UDOT waived the right to require MVC to comply with the notice provisions because UDOT “failed to correctly interpret and misapplied the I-215 Project’s asphalt paving specifications in limiting, by his own directives, [Southwest’s] use of the ribbon paving method.” (R. 1522.) In other words, MVC was not required to notify UDOT that UDOT had altered the project because UDOT had altered the project.

## **II. Course of Proceedings**

On September 24, 2004, MVC filed a formal claim with UDOT, alleging that (i) MVC had incurred additional costs of at least \$574,466.06 because UDOT forbade ribbon paving; and (ii) UDOT has assessed an unwarranted “thickness penalty” in the amount of \$178,416.70. (Trial Ex. 25.) On February 11, 2005, a claims review board—a three-member panel including a general contractor and two UDOT representatives—unanimously recommended that the UDOT deputy director deny MVC’s claims because (i) UDOT had correctly interpreted the project specifications as prohibiting ribbon paving and (ii) the thickness tests supported the thickness penalty. (R. 1424:587-88.) The deputy director did not approve additional compensation for MVC. (R. 153.)

On May 19, 2005, MVC filed a complaint in district court, again alleging that UDOT had breached its contract with MVC by (i) prohibiting ribbon paving and (ii) penalizing MVC for the thickness of the pavement. (R. 1-5.) Importantly, even though Southwest has prosecuted this lawsuit as MVC’s assignee, Southwest (i) is not a party to this lawsuit, (ii) has not filed any claims against UDOT or MVC, and (iii) has no contractual relationship with UDOT. (R. 1497.)

After a bench trial, the court ruled in favor of MVC on its breach of contract claim concerning ribbon paving and awarded MVC \$768,365.52 in damages. (R. 1525.) UDOT appeals this ruling. (R. 1533.) The trial court then denied MVC’s breach of contract claim concerning the thickness penalty. (R. 1525.) MVC has cross-appealed this ruling. (R. 1535.) UDOT will not address the thickness penalty claim until it responds to MVC’s opening brief on its cross-appeal.

### **III. Statement of Facts**

In the fall of 2002, UDOT and MVC entered into a general contract which included, among other things, re-paving portions of I-215. (R. 1496.) Before and throughout this litigation, UDOT has maintained that the project specifications in the general contract prohibited the use of a less expensive ribbon paving method for significant portions of the project. After a bench trial, however, the trial court ruled that UDOT had altered the project by prohibiting ribbon paving.<sup>3</sup> (R. 1511.) While UDOT believes that this ruling is incorrect, UDOT does not challenge it on appeal. UDOT instead accepts, for purposes of appeal, that UDOT altered the project by restricting ribbon paving. Because most of the trial court's findings of fact concern whether UDOT altered the project, most of the trial court's findings of fact are irrelevant to this appeal.

#### **A. UDOT's General Contract with MVC**

Under the general contract, UDOT reserved the right to alter the project, and MVC agreed to complete the project as altered. (Add. B, Trial Ex. 103 at 54, 56; R. 1424 at 539.) Because the contract required MVC to complete the project even if UDOT altered it, the contract contained a number of provisions to protect the parties in this scenario. The general contract required MVC to notify the UDOT engineer promptly "of alleged changes to the Contract due to differing site conditions, extra work, altered work beyond the scope of the Contract, or actions taken by [UDOT] that change the Contract terms and conditions." (Add. B, Trial Ex. 103 at 56 (emphasis added).) Once MVC provided this verbal notice, MVC was not to "perform further work or incur further contract item

---

<sup>3</sup> The trial court found that UDOT's prohibition on ribbon paving was "equivalent to requiring extra work or a change in work that was not contemplated by M[VC]'s bid to UDOT or Southwest's bid to M[VC]." (R. 1511.)



expense relating to the claimed change after the date the change allegedly occurred, unless directed otherwise in writing by the Engineer.” (Add. B, Trial Ex. 103 at 56.)

MVC then had “5 calendar days of the date of the change or action was noted” to provide in writing to the UDOT engineer the following information:

1. The date of occurrence and nature of the circumstances of the occurrence that constitute a change.
2. Name, title, and activity of each [UDOT] representative knowledgeable of the claimed change.
3. Identity of any documents and the substance of any oral communication involved in the claimed change.
4. Basis for a claim of accelerated schedule performance, if applicable.
5. Basis for a claim that the work is not required by the Contract, if applicable.

(Add. B, Trial Ex. 103 at 56.)

Under the general contract, UDOT then had only 10 days to evaluate the claims and inform MVC whether additional compensation was warranted.<sup>4</sup> During those 10 days, if the change could warrant additional compensation in excess of \$25,000, then the UDOT engineer had to obtain numerous approvals, including approval of the Federal Highway Administration because the project involved federal money. (R. 1424:556-57.) As Lance Harris—MVC’s Project Manager and designated as MVC’s Rule 30(b)(6) most

---

<sup>4</sup> The provision provides that UDOT must within 10 days,

1. Confirm that a change occurred and, when necessary, direct the method and manner of further performance; or
2. Deny that a change occurred and, when necessary, direct the method and manner of further performance; or
3. Advise [MVC] that information necessary for deciding to confirm or deny the change has not been submitted, and indicate what information is needed for further review and date by which [MVC] should submit it to the Engineer. The Engineer responds to such additional information within 10 calendar days from receipt from [MVC].

(Add. B, Trial Ex. 103 at 57.)

knowledgeable representative<sup>5</sup>—testified, MVC understood that if MVC had provided UDOT notice that prohibiting ribbon paving constituted a change in the project, then the UDOT engineer would have needed approval from other UDOT officials and the federal government because the claimed additional compensation would have exceeded \$25,000. (R. 1424:556-57.) Absent these approvals, the UDOT engineer could not have required work that triggered such additional compensation.

The importance of the notice provisions is reflected by the fact that MVC’s “failure to provide required notice under this article constitutes a waiver of any and all claims that may arise as a result of the alleged change.” (Add. B, Trial Ex. 103 at 57.) Elsewhere, UDOT “does not grant additional compensation if verbal and/or written notification is not given.” (Add. B, Trial Ex. 103 at 75.) These provisions prevent claims for additional compensation after work has been performed, by which time the UDOT engineer could no longer obtain the required authorizations to spend additional funds.

The trial court found that MVC did not comply with the notice provisions. (R. 1511.) In fact, MVC’s Rule 30(b)(6) representative, Mr. Harris, testified that MVC never provided UDOT notice that it considered UDOT to have altered the project.<sup>6</sup>

---

<sup>5</sup> Rule 30(b)(6) permits a party to serve a deposition notice upon an entity requiring the organization to designate one or more officers, directors, managing agents or other persons to testify on its behalf on the matters described with particularity in the notice. In response to such a notice, MVC designated Lance Harris as the person most knowledgeable regarding this construction project. (R. 1424 at 531.)

<sup>6</sup> The trial court found that MVC was excused from providing notice because the UDOT engineer made clear he “would not have changed his mind in applying his interpretation of the contract specifications” to restrict ribbon paving. (R. 1510.) If correct, a new 10-day period for a higher level review would have begun at the time of the engineer’s “denial.” It is undisputed, however, that MVC did not satisfy this new 10-day period to file an appeal with the board of review, as MVC did not file an appeal for another 15 months. (Trial Ex. 25.) And “[f]ailure to submit a request within this 10-day time frame is considered acceptance of the Engineer’s denial action.” (Add. B, Trial Ex. 103 at 78.)

(R. 1424:553-54.) Moreover, after the project MVC verified and approved in writing that UDOT had satisfied its final payment obligations.<sup>7</sup> (Trial Ex. 41; 1424:691.)

The general contract also provides a mechanism for MVC to appeal if the UDOT engineer disagrees that he altered the project. This appeal mechanism is similarly designed to minimize delays in the project while permitting these issues to be resolved before the work at issue is performed: MVC must file any appeal “within 10 calendar days of the Engineer’s denial of a claim.” (Add. B, Trial Ex. 103 at 78.) The appeal would be submitted to the claims board of review, a three member panel with two UDOT representatives and a general contractor. (Add. B, Trial Ex. 103 at 78.) The review board then would make a recommendation to the UDOT deputy director, whose decision would be “administratively final.” (Add. B, Trial Ex. 103 at 79.)

Like MVC’s failure to notify UDOT that the UDOT engineer had altered the project, MVC’s failure to appeal the engineer’s decision within 10 days operates to waive the right to additional compensation: “Failure to submit a request within this 10-day time frame is considered acceptance of the Engineer’s denial action.” (Add. B, Trial Ex. 103 at 78.) And like the 5-day deadline to provide written notice that the UDOT engineer had altered the project, this 10-day deadline was designed to minimize project delays and to ensure that the UDOT engineer could obtain approvals before UDOT incurred obligations in excess of \$25,000. (R. 1424:556-57.) MVC filed an appeal with the review board 11 months after the project was completed. (Trial Ex. 25.) And nearly a year after filing its appeal before the review board, MVC signed a “final estimate”

---

<sup>7</sup> If the contractor approves the final payment estimate, or fails to submit an itemized written statement justifying an adjustment within 30 calendar days, “all disputes not itemized in said statement are waived by the contractor.” (Add. B, Trial Ex. 103 at 104.)

verifying that UDOT had paid MVC all that it owed and waiving any right to additional payment. (Trial Ex. 41; 1424:691; Add. B, Trial Ex. 103 at 104.)

**B. MVC's Subcontract with Southwest**

After MVC entered into the general contract with UDOT, MVC entered into subcontracts with Southwest for the paving portions of the project (collectively "subcontract"). (R. 1496-97.) Much like the general contract, the subcontract contains a formal procedure to receive additional compensation if the project was altered. (Add. C, Trial Ex. 9 at §5.2.) Southwest's entitlement to additional compensation under the subcontract was directly tied to whether MVC received additional compensation from UDOT: "No claim for extra time and/or compensation on account of changes, added or deleted work may be made by [Southwest] unless acknowledged by [MVC] in writing and [MVC] is entitled to and actually receives additional time and/or compensation on behalf of [Southwest] under the [general contract with UDOT]." (Add. C, Trial Ex. 9 at §5.1.) Elsewhere, MVC "shall not be liable to [Southwest] for any greater sum than [MVC] received from [UDOT] on behalf of [Southwest]." (Add. C, Trial Ex. 9 at §5.1.)

Because Southwest's additional compensation was tied to the success of MVC's claim with UDOT, the subcontract provided a formal mechanism by which Southwest could obligate MVC to submit a timely claim to UDOT on Southwest's behalf. Southwest first had to provide MVC "written notice of any act, event, condition, or occurrence that would entitle [MVC] to additional compensation or an extension of time under the [general contract] promptly and in sufficient time for [MVC] to notify [UDOT] in accordance with the [general contract]." (Add. C, Trial Ex. 9 at §5.2.) But "[i]n no event shall [Southwest] give written notice to [MVC] more than forty-eight (48) hours

after discovery.” (Add. C, Trial Ex. 9 at §5.2.) And elsewhere, “[u]pon receipt of any written or oral directive that [Southwest] believes involves work beyond its original scope of work or that would otherwise constitute a constructive change to this agreement, [Southwest] agrees to provide [MVC] with written notice that it considers the directive a change prior to performing any such work.” (Add. C, Trial Ex. 9 at §5.3.)

Once Southwest had provided MVC timely notice, then MVC was obligated to submit a claim to UDOT for additional compensation and “to invoke, on behalf of [Southwest], those provisions in the [general contract] for resolving disputes or claims.” (Add. C, Trial Ex. 9 at §5.4.) However, Southwest’s “[f]ailure to so notify [MVC] will constitute a waiver of all such claims.” (Add. C, Trial Ex. 9 at §5.3.) In other words, if Southwest did not notify MVC that Southwest believed UDOT had altered the project, which in turn would permit MVC to satisfy the notice provisions in the general contract, then Southwest waived any claim to additional compensation from MVC, just as MVC waived any claim to additional compensation from UDOT.

Southwest also agreed (i) not to file a claim against MVC until UDOT had fully resolved any claim brought by MVC and (ii) “to be bound by all decisions entered and determinations made through said procedures,” meaning Southwest agreed to be bound by UDOT’s final decision. (Add. C, Trial Ex. 9 at §5.4; R. 1424 at 527-28.) Southwest not only did not provide MVC timely notice to trigger MVC’s obligation to file a claim with UDOT, Southwest has never filed a claim against MVC or UDOT. (R. 1424:512.)

At trial, Mr. Harris, MVC’s designated representative, confirmed that Southwest was required under its subcontract to provide MVC written notice if Southwest believed it was due additional compensation for an alteration in the project and that Southwest did

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