2009

Meadow Valley Contractors, Inc. v. Utah Department of Transportation : Brief of Appellee

Utah Supreme Court

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

The agreement also states that it was "intended to resolve all aspects of the Block Paving Claim as between Fisher [Southwest] and MVCI in connection with the Project. In the event Fisher [Southwest] recovers any amounts or does not actually recover any amounts from UDOT on the Block Paving Claim after a disposition on the merits, MVCI and Liberty [MVC's Surety] will have no liability to Fisher [Southwest] with respect to the Block Paving Claim." (R. 1184). This provision clearly shows that the claim for extra costs belonged to MVC in that it acknowledges a dispute between MVC and UDOT relating to the extra costs suffered by MVC and passed down to Southwest.

It is clear that the trial court correctly awarded damages to MVC in this matter. The extra costs relate directly to MVC's scope of work under its contract with UDOT. While MVC passed the costs down to Southwest, the extra costs still belonged to MVC because had Southwest sued MVC directly, MVC would have asserted the same claim against UDOT for the costs.

Conversely, if UDOT's theory on this point was adopted, it would have the effect of nullifying virtually all liquidating agreements entered into between general contractors and subcontractors, and prevent subcontractors from bringing actions on behalf of general contractors against owners. Instead, it would require subcontractors to rely upon general contractors to litigate claims against owners relating to damages affecting both general contractors and the subcontractors. This would affect subcontractor prices, increase risk and would result in greater construction costs to all involved in a construction project, including owners, general contractors, subcontractors, suppliers, vendors and, in cases of public projects, the taxpayer.

b. The Court Should Not Even Consider UDOT's Assignment Argument Because it Was Not Raised at Trial.

By UDOT's own admission, this issue was never raised at trial by UDOT. Pursuant to Utah law, "a defendant who fails to bring an issue before the trial court is barred from asserting it initially on appeal." State v. Lopez, 886 P.2d 1105, 1113 (Utah 1994). The trial court is considered "the proper forum in which to commence thoughtful and probing analysis" of issues and "failing to argue an issue and present pertinent evidence in that forum denies the trial court the opportunity to make any findings of fact

or conclusions of law pertinent to the claimed error.” State v. Brown, 856 P.2d 358, 360 (Utah Ct. App. 1993).

The exception to this rule is that an appellate court may address an issue not raised at trial if the trial court committed plain error or there are exceptional circumstances. State V. Irwin, 924 P.2d 5, 7 (Utah Ct. App. 1992). In order to establish plain error, an appellant must establish that “(i) an error exists; (ii) the error should have been obvious to the trial court; and (iii) the error is harmful.” Id. at 8. An exceptional circumstance exists only in truly unusual cases involving rare procedural anomalies. Id. at 11. Utah courts very rarely find either plain error or exceptional circumstances and, in fact, have stated that even issues involving liberty or constitutional rights do not necessarily constitute exceptional circumstances. Id. at 9; See also, State v. Archambeau, 820 P.2d 920, 925 (Utah Ct. App. 1991).

Clearly, the trial court did not commit plain error as it relates to the issue of whether MVC incurred damages and there are no exceptional circumstances that exist for even considering this issue for the first time on appeal. Rather, for the reasons set forth in Subsection a. above, the trial court correctly determined that MVC was entitled to damages.

In addition, if UDOT felt that the trial court awarding damages to MVC was so clearly and plainly in error, it should have raised the issue with the trial court, which it failed to do. The trial court was the proper forum for this issue and the trial court could have handled the matter expeditiously and effectively.

II. The Trial Court Correctly Determined That UDOT Breached the Contract by Interfering With and Changing MVC/Southwest's Means and Methods of Performing the Paving Work and Failing to Pay for Extra Costs Resulting From UDOT's Interference.

In Point II of its Argument section, UDOT claims that MVC's breach of contract action fails as a matter of law, arguing that UDOT could not have breached the contract by altering the I-215 Project because the contract allowed UDOT to alter the I-215 Project. UDOT's argument is flawed for several reasons, including: (1) UDOT did not raise this issue during trial and, therefore, it is waived. Specifically, UDOT did not view its directives as an alteration of the contract and never took the position at trial that it was an alteration. Rather, UDOT's only position at trial was that it was correctly interpreting the I-215 Project Specifications when it gave the directive to MVC/Southwest on several occasions that they could not ribbon pave; (2) Even if UDOT considered the directive an alteration, it did not comply with contractual notice and payment requirements relating to changes/alterations in the work; and (3) Even if the contract permits UDOT to alter the I-215 Project, it was legally obligated to pay for increased costs resulting from the alteration, which it failed to do.

a. UDOT's Argument that it Could Not Have Breached the Contract by Altering the Project Because the Contract Provides that UDOT Can Alter the Project Was Not Raised at Trial.

As already stated above, "a defendant who fails to bring an issue before the trial court is barred from asserting it initially on appeal." State v. Lopez, 886 P.2d at 1113. In order to preserve an issue for appeal, "Utah courts require specific objections in order to bring all claimed errors to the trial court's attention to give the court an opportunity to

correct the errors if appropriate.” State v. Brown, 856 P.2d at 361. Also, for an issue to be sufficiently raised, “it must at least be raised to a level of consciousness such that the trial judge can consider it.” Id.

In the instant case, UDOT never raised the issue at trial that it could not have breached the contract by altering the I-215 Project because the contract allowed it to do so. Rather, UDOT’s only position at trial was that it was correctly interpreting the I-215 Project Specifications when it directed MVC/Southwest to not ribbon pave in areas where it would result in a greater than two inch vertical grade separation. (R. 1421: 51; R. 1422: 325-328, 425-428; R. 1424: 619-620; R. 1501). UDOT simply never viewed its directives as an alteration of the contract and is only making this argument now in an attempt to confuse the issues and to draw the Court’s attention away from the trial court’s conclusions relating to UDOT’s wrongful interpretation of their own contract specifications and MVC/Southwest’s damages resulting from such.

In support of its position that it raised the issue at trial, UDOT cites to pages 1274-1277 of the Record. These pages make up a portion of UDOT’s Trial Brief. In reviewing the pages, UDOT never takes the position or raises the issue that UDOT could not have breached the contract by altering the I-215 Project because the contract provides that UDOT can alter the same. (R. 1274-1277). Rather, the only issues raised by UDOT relate to UDOT’s position that MVC waived all claims because it did not comply with the notice and dispute resolution requirements of the contract and that UDOT was

correctly interpreting the contract, not altering or changing the contract, when it prohibited MVC/Southwest from ribbon paving. (R. 1274-1277).

In sum, UDOT never raised the issue that it could not have breached by contract by altering the I-215 Project because the contract permitted UDOT to do so. UDOT's position has always been that there was no alteration. Accordingly, this issue has been waived and the Court should not even consider the same.

b. UDOT Did Not Comply With Contractual Notice and Payment Requirements Relating to Alterations in the Work.

Even if UDOT now considers its directive prohibiting MVC/Southwest from ribbon paving to be an alteration of the I-215 Project, UDOT failed to comply with its own contractual notice and payment requirements relating to alterations in the work. While the contract does give UDOT's project engineer the right to make changes/alterations in the work, the contract specifically provides that any such changes/alterations be made in writing. Specifically, the contract provides: "The Engineer reserves the right at any time during the work to make written changes in quantities and alteration in the work that are necessary to satisfactorily complete the project." (Trial Ex. 103 at 54) (Emphasis added). In addition, if the engineer makes changes or alterations in the work, UDOT is required to pay for extra costs associated with the changes/alterations. Specifically the contract provides: "Department [UDOT] adjusts the Contract, excluding anticipated profits, if the alterations or changes in quantities significantly change the character of the work under the contract." (Trial Ex. 103 at 54).

In this case, prior to the paving work being performed by MVC/Southwest, UDOT never made any written changes to the contract relating to its multiple directives to MVC/Southwest that ribbon paving was not to be utilized where it resulted in a greater than two inch vertical separation grade. No such written changes exist because, as set forth more fully above, UDOT never considered its directives relating to paving methods a change/alteration to the contract. If it had, it would have issued a written change order or some other document stating that that it considered its directives a change to the contract.

Moreover, even if UDOT had made written changes as it relates to paving methods to be utilized on the I-215 Project, UDOT was still responsible to pay for MVC/Southwest for extra costs associated with changes/alterations, which it clearly did not do.

c. UDOT is Required to Pay For Increased Costs Resulting From Alterations.

As set forth above, even if UDOT had the ability to alter/change the I-215 Project, it was still responsible for paying extra costs associated with the alterations/changes, which it failed to do. (Trial Ex. 103 at 54). When the trial court's conclusions are read in their entirety, it is clear that the trial court ruled that UDOT breached the contract because UDOT interfered with and changed the means and methods by which MVC/Southwest should have been allowed to pave the subject project and failed to pay for extra costs associated with the interference and change.

Specifically, the trial court found that:

9. UDOT breached its contract with Meadow Valley in directing Meadow Valley/Southwest not to use the ribbon style method on portions of the Project.

10. UDOT breached its contract with Meadow Valley in misinterpreting and misapplying the asphalt paving specifications.

12. UDOT was aware, and it was foreseeable to UDOT, that UDOT's decision to disallow ribbon paving throughout the Project would prejudice Meadow Valley/Southwest by resulting in substantial additional costs for materials, labor, downtime, equipment, testing, grinding, trucking, traffic control, plant operations, and other miscellaneous costs to Meadow Valley/Southwest.

13. UDOT's breach of the contract resulted in substantial added costs for materials, labor, downtime, equipment, testing, grinding, trucking, traffic control, plan operations, and other miscellaneous costs to Meadow Valley/Southwest.

(R. 1519-1520).

When reading these conclusions in their true context, it is clear that the trial court ruled that UDOT breached the contract not only because UDOT interfered with MVC/Southwest's means and methods, but also because UDOT failed to pay for extra costs resulting from UDOT's interference. Had the trial court concluded that UDOT was entitled to change the I-215 Project, UDOT still would have been in breach of contract because it did not pay for extra costs incurred by MVC/Southwest resulting from UDOT's changes as UDOT was clearly required to do under the contract. (Trial Ex. 103 at 54).

If the Court were to accept UDOT's logic that UDOT could not breach the contract because the contract allows UDOT to alter/change the Project, then UDOT would be able to make changes/alterations in its all of its projects (involving the same

contract language UDOT cites) and be under no obligation to pay for any increased costs due to the changes/alterations. This, of course, would be an absurd result.

III. The Trial Court Correctly Determined That MVC/Southwest Was Excused From Strictly Complying With the Contract's Written Notice Provisions Because UDOT Directed MVC/Southwest to Not Ribbon Pave and UDOT Was Given Repeated Verbal Notice That Not Being Allowed to Ribbon Pave Would Have a Significant Impact on Costs, Production And Operating Schedules.

The trial court correctly determined that MVC/Southwest's numerous verbal notices to UDOT informing UDOT that prohibiting MVC/Southwest from using the ribbon paving method would result in increased costs, production inefficiencies, downtime, scheduling problems and other negative impacts to MVC/Southwest, constituted sufficient notice, thereby excusing MVC/Southwest from complying with the strict notice provisions of the contract.

This Court has conclusively held that if a party entitled to receive notice of a change was already aware, or should have been aware of the change, then there is no need to comply with strict written notice provisions of a contract. Specifically, in Thorn Construction Co. Inc. v. Utah Department of Transportation, 598 P.2d 365 (Utah 1979), the plaintiff construction company claimed it was entitled to additional compensation for extra work performed at the request of UDOT's project engineer. Id. at 367. UDOT argued that the plaintiff was not entitled to additional compensation because it had not submitted a written request for payment as required by the contract, and had waived its claim as a result. Id.

In support of its argument, UDOT cited the following contract provision:

If, in any case, where the contractor deems that additional compensation is due him for work or material not clearly covered in the contract or not ordered by the engineer as extra work as defined herein, **the contractor shall notify the engineer in writing of his intention to make a claim for such additional compensation before he begins the work on which he bases the claim.**

Id. at 369. (Emphasis added).

Despite the fact that the contract contained a strict notice provision that required the contractor to provide written notice of its claim and refrain from commencing work until providing written notice, this Court unanimously held that **no written notice** was required because UDOT's project engineer, not the contractor, **orally directed the extra work to be performed** and, therefore, UDOT clearly had **actual notice** that additional compensation would be required. Id. at 370. (Emphasis added).

In addition to Thorn, courts outside of Utah have held that strict compliance with contractual notice provisions is unnecessary when the owner has actual notice. See, New Pueblo Constructors, Inc. v. State of Arizona, 696 P.2d 185, 191 (Ariz. 1985) (where the Arizona Supreme Court stated that "**Barring claims** for compensation by a **strict application of notice requirements is disapproved . . . where the government is aware of the changed conditions and of the claim for compensation** and where no prejudice is shown by the lack of formal notice.") (Emphasis added). See also, Chaney Bldg. Co., Inc. v. Sunnyside School District No. 12, 709 P.2d 904, 907 (Ariz. Ct. App. 1985) (where the Arizona Court of Appeals stated that "the evidence was sufficient for the trier of fact to infer that Sunnyside had **actual notice** of the delays . . . thereby making a 7-day written notice duplicitous and unnecessary . . ."). (Emphasis added). See

also, Roger J. Au & Sons, Inc. v. Northeast Ohio Regional Sewer District, 504 N.E.2d 1209, 1211 (Ohio Ct. App. 1986) (where the Ohio Court of Appeals found that when an owner has **constructive notice of a claim, the failure to provide written notice** or otherwise strictly comply with contractual notice provisions **is harmless**). (Emphasis added). See also, Nelson Bros. Constr. Co. (1977), 77-2 BCA, ¶ 12660, which states as follows:

Failure to give formal notice of changes claims did not bar the claims because responsible officials were aware of the facts giving rise to the claims. **A defense based upon lack of notice does not apply if such officials as a project inspector, COR, or project engineer had actual knowledge of the circumstances upon which the claim is based**, nor is notice required for extra expenses that result from a work order. Such circumstances give **actual knowledge** of the basis for the claim and no prejudice results from a failure to receive notice.

(Emphasis added).

In this case, consistent with Thorn and the other cases cited above, MVC/Southwest was not required to strictly comply with the contract notice provisions because UDOT clearly had **actual notice** of MVC/Southwest's claim for extra costs resulting from UDOT's directive that ribbon paving not be used.

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